
 
 
 

TONGANOXIE PLANNING COMMISSION  
Agenda 

December 7, 2023 
7:00 p.m. 

City Council Chambers 
303 S. Bury Street 

 
Planning Commission Members 

Monica Gee - Patti Bitler - John Kirk - Howie Brewington - Amanda Horner - VACANT -   Kirsten Moreland 
 

*There may be an audio recording of the meeting which will be utilized to prepare the meeting minutes. 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER – Planning Commission Meeting 
 
2. APPROVAL OF PC MINUTES – November 2, 2023 
 
3. OLD BUSINESS 
 
4. EX PARTE COMMUNICATION 
 
5. NEW BUSINESS  

a) Public Hearing:  Application to Rezone Wren Estates property generally located at 
Washington and East Streets, Tonganoxie, KS 66086 from R-R and R-SF to R-SF 
 

b) Consideration of Application to Rezone Wren Estates property generally located at 
Washington and East Streets, Tonganoxie, KS 66086 from R-R and R-SF to R-SF 
 

c) Public Hearing:  Preliminary Plat for Wren Estates generally located at Washington and 
East Streets, Tonganoxie, KS 66086  

 
d) Consideration of Preliminary Plat for Wren Estates generally located at Washington and 

East Streets, Tonganoxie, KS 66086 
 

e) Consider Site Plan Approval for Wilson Glass 
 

f) Review Applications received for Planning Commission Position Vacancy and Consider Making a 
Recommendation for the Appointment to the Mayor and City Council 
 

g) Request for Proposals Process Update 
 
5. GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
6. ADJOURN 



 

Minutes - Page 1 of 2 
 

 
 
 

TONGANOXIE PLANNING COMMISSION 
Meeting Minutes 

November 2, 2023 7:00 p.m. 
303 S. Bury Street 

CALL TO ORDER 
• Chair Monica Gee opened the meeting at 7:00 p.m. 

Roll Call: Planning Commission members present were Chair Monica Gee, Vice Chair Patti Bitler, Kirsten 
Moreland, John Kirk, Howie Brewington and Amanda Horner. Angela Schultz was absent. City Manager 
George Brajkovic, Assistant City Manager Dan Porter, Municipal Court Clerk Lindsay Huntington, and 
City Planner Chris Brewster were also present. City Attorney Anna Krstulic was present via phone.  

 
1. APPROVAL OF PC MINUTES – September 7, 2023 

o Mr. Kirk made a motion to approve the minutes from the September 7, 2023 Commission 
meeting.  

o Ms. Bitler seconded the motion. 
o Vote of all ayes, motion carried. 

 
2. OLD BUSINESS 

 
3. EX PARTE COMMUNICATION 
 
4. NEW BUSINESS 

a) Consider Approval of Final Plat for Stone Creek Subdivision No. 10  
• Mr. Brewster with Multistudio delivered the staff report for the Final Plat for Stone Creek No. 10. 
• Mr. Brewster stated staff is recommending approval of the Final Plat for Stone Creek No. 10 and 

provided a detailed recommendation list of items needing to be met before the Final Plat. 
 

o Ms. Bitler made a motion to approve the Final Plat for Stone Creek No. 10 with the 
recommendations made by staff.      

o Mr. Brewington seconded the motion.  
o Roll call vote – All ayes, motion passed. 

 
b) Discuss Resignation  
• Mr. Brajkovic stated that Angela Schultz has resigned from the Planning Commission. The 

vacancy will be advertised and applicants will be presented to the Planning Commission for review 
and to provide a recommendation to the City Council.  

• Ms. Gee stated this is not an at large position the candidate must be a City resident. 
• The appointment will fill the unexpired term.  

 
c) Update on Downtown Study   
• Mr. Porter stated a request for proposal has been put on the City website as well as advertised in 

the Tonganoxie Mirror.  
• Mr. Porter stated the proposal will be due back on November 17, 2023 and a review by the 

Planning Commission Committee and City Council consideration of the recommended award by 
year end.     



 

Minutes - Page 2 of 2 
 

 
5. GENERAL INFORMATION 

a) Home Builder’s Association Reports 
 

6. ADJOURN 
• Ms. Moreland made a motion to adjourn the meeting. 
• Ms. Bitler seconded the motion. 
• Vote of all ayes, motion carried. 
• Meeting adjourned at 7:16p.m. 

 
Respectfully submitted,  
 

 
 
Lindsay Huntington, Planning Clerk  



1 
 

 
 

City of Tonganoxie, Kansas 
 

PLANNING STAFF REPORT 

 
Case#:  2023-008P, Rezone from R-R to R-SF; & Preliminary Plat 
 

Date of Report:   November 30, 2023 
 

Application:      Rezone R-R to R-SF / Preliminary Plat 
Date of Application:  10/27/23 (via email) 
Date of Meeting:  12/7/2023 

 

Action: A preliminary plat requires review and approval by the Planning 
Commission.  If the preliminary plat meets the general layout and 
preliminary planning and design standards of the subdivision 
regulations, the Planning Commission shall approve the preliminary plat. 

 

A rezoning requires review and recommendation by the Planning 
Commission, and final approval by the City Council.  The Planning 
Commission may make its recommendation based on the 
Comprehensive Plan, and based on reviewing the facts and evaluating a 
criteria in the zoning ordinance.  The City Council may make its decision 
on these same criteria, and consideration of the Commission 
recommendation. 

 

Applicant Name:   Orison, LLC; Dan Lynch 
 

Property Owner Name:  Orison, LLC 
 

Subject Property 
 Address:  North of Washington Street and east of East Street(General Location) 
Property Size:   6.59 acres zoned R-SF; 0.72 acres zoned RR (a portion of which is 

proposed to be platted 
Zoning:   R-SF, RR 
Legal Description:   Meets and bounds – unplatted  

 

Surrounding Property – Zoning and Use:  
West:  R-SF; senior living facility, single-family houses 
North: R-R; Rural undeveloped property 
East:  R-R; undeveloped rural property and large lot residential 
South:  R-R and RR-2.5 (County); rural and large lot residential & schools (elementary & middle) 

 

Recommendation:  Approve the rezoning subject to conditions on development agreement 
for streets; approve the preliminary plat conditioned on further study of 
future street and trail connections – provided Commission agrees to 
grant exception to connectivity standards. 



2 
 

 

 
 

I. SUMMARY 
 
This application is to rezone 0.72 acres from R-R to R-SF and for a preliminary plat of a larger related 
tract (6.59 acres) already zoned R-SF.  The preliminary plat will cover a portion of the 0.72 acres 
proposed to be rezoned, but leave a parcel with an existing single-family home unplatted (corner 
property.)  The plan is to develop 16 new detached houses on a cul-de-sac connection to Washington 
Street and 4 new single family lots that front on East Street on the west side of the property. 
 
The lots range in size from 8,510 square feet to 26,695 square feet and range in frontage widths from 42 
feet to 125 feet.  The majority of lots have frontage widths of 65’ to 75 feet with an area of 8,500 and 
10,000 square feet;  the exceptions being narrower frontages and larger lots on the interior curve of cul-
de-sacs, and the wider frontage on the exterior curve of irregular shaped lots.  The property also 
includes “Tract A”, which includes a creek and drainage area on the east side of the property and 
connecting to a larger flood plain zone interior to the overall property section to the north and east.   
 

II. ANALYSIS – REZONING 

 
Rezoning applications must be reviewed against the following considerations (in bold italic text) as 
outlined by the City of Tonganoxie Zoning Ordinance, Section 27-011.  Following each of the 
considerations are staff comments (in plain text).  However, since staff has not had the benefit of 
considering testimony provided during the public hearing, the Planning Commission should consider 
each factor and the analysis in conjunction with testimony at the hearing prior to acting on the 
application.  No one factor is necessarily controlling, nor do all factors need to be clearly established, but 
rather they are to be considered in balance as an overall evaluation of the application. 

 
1. Character of the neighborhood.  

 
The character of the surrounding area is a rural undeveloped land, single-family lots, large lot 
rural residential, and civic/institutional uses.  The area is at a transition between established old 
neighborhoods, developing property and public investments, and undeveloped rural areas.  
There are natural features (wooded creek and floodplain) to the east and north of this property 
that present both development constraints and amenity opportunities for this property and the 
entire section bounded by East Street to the west,4th Street on the north, the city limit on the 
east, and Washington Street on the south.   
 

2. Zoning and uses of properties nearby:  
 
Surrounding properties are zoned R-SF or R-R and include primarily residential uses or 
institutional uses that support residential neighborhoods.  These include a middle school, 
elementary school, and a senior living facility.  Other perimeters of the property are rural large 
lot housing or undeveloped property. 
 

3. Suitability of subject property for the uses to which it has been restricted:   
 

Due to the level of public investment in the area (schools) and the proximity to established 
gridded neighborhoods, this property is not suitable for rural and large lot residential uses.  
Provided the appropriate infrastructure and neighborhood amenities can be provided, the 
property is more suitable for a higher intensity of residential development.  Property in the 



3 
 

vicinity may be suitable to remain in large-lot, or rural-residential intensities if limited public 
infrastructure investments occur – primarily considering property to the east and south of the 
subject property.    
 

4. Extent to which removal of the restrictions will detrimentally affect nearly property:  
 
The majority of the proposed project area is already zoned R-SF and this proposal is to rezone a 
smaller corner portion from R-R to R-SF.  Additionally, property to the west is also zoned R-SF 
and reflects a similar development pattern.  Property to the south is mainly impacted by the 
presence of the schools, and it is beneficial to develop a greater intensity of housing near 
schools.  Other properties to the north, east, and south could benefit from transitions provided 
by natural features (creek and wooded paths), and the subject property and adjacent 
developable areas would benefit from a greater focus on these attributes as potential 
neighborhood amenities. 
 

5. Length of time the subject property has remained vacant as zoned:  
 
There is an existing house on the southwest corner of the project area that was built in 1963 
according to Leavenworth County GIS data.  The remainder of the project area is undeveloped. 
 

6. Relative gain to the public health, safety and welfare by the destruction of the value of the 
landowner’s property as compared to the hardship imposed upon the landowner:   
 
If the corner property remains zoned R-R it would not necessarily serve the intent of the R-R 
zoning district, which is to promote a rural and low-intensity residential pattern that is 
compatible with agriculture uses on the edges of the city.  The property zoned R-R is 0.72 acres, 
and does not conform to the R-R minimum standard of at least 1 acre lots.  Additionally, the 
majority of the project property is zoned R-SF and the areas to the west are similarly zoned and 
developed for greater intensity of residential or neighborhood-compatible uses. 
 

7. Adequacy of Infrastructure  
[see Section III. Preliminary Plat analysis below] 

 
8. Recommendations of professional staff:   

[see Section IV. Staff Recommendation below] 
 

9. Conformance of the requested change to the adopted or recognized comprehensive plan of 
Tonganoxie, Kansas:   
 
The future land use element of the 2006 comprehensive plan identifies this area as low density 
residential in association with the near-term growth boundary of the city and the civic and 
institutional areas of the city.  R-SF zoning conforms to this aspect of the plan.   In 2017, the 
Planning Commission also adopted plan supplements that addressed several community design 
elements in greater detail.  One of these was housing and neighborhoods, and specifically how 
to achieve greater and more lasting value from neighborhood character as more housing is 
developed.  These aspects of the plan called for a wider variety of housing options within and 
between neighborhoods, and a greater focus on neighborhood streetscapes, neighborhood 
amenities in parks, trails, and common areas, and more opportunities for walk and biking 
between neighborhoods.  This project should be considered in that broader context as 
surrounding areas develop to consider potential relationships to adjacent developable areas, 
and to provide a greater variety of housing within consistent neighborhood patterns.   



4 
 

 

III. ANALYSIS –PRELIMINARY PLAT  

 
The purpose of a preliminary plat is to show general and conceptual compliance with the city’s 
subdivision design standards prior to completing final engineering and more technical drawings to divide 
lots and construct improvements.  The preliminary plat is a coordinating document to guide the design 
and build out of development over time and to coordinate projects with other development in 
surrounding areas.   
 
Plat applications must be reviewed against the following considerations (in bold italic text) as outlined 
by the City of Tonganoxie Subdivision Regulations, Section 4.1 and 4.2.   The Planning Commission shall 
approve the plat if it meets the City’s criteria for the following required improvements and development 
criteria: 
 
a. Street Systems - provision for the continuation of existing streets, connections to adjoin areas, 

and adequate internal streets; internal circulation; and proposed streets extended to the 
boundaries. 

 
The preliminary plat proposes an approximately 500-foot cul-de-sac connecting to Washinton 
Street on the north side of the street.   The cul-de-sac will serve 16 lots private lots.  The plat 
proposes 4 additional lots that front on existing East Street on the west boundary of the 
property. 
 
There are three primary issues to be addressed with this proposed street layout. 
 
1. Connectivity.  The subdivision standards require continuation of streets to the perimeter 

of adjacent undeveloped property at least every 660’, and where the property is not 
being developed in association with the plat, a conceptual street layout.  This is to 
facilitate an intermediate scale (“neighborhood scale”) of street network planning 
between the comprehensive plan / major transportation plan and individual 
development projects.  This proposal does not meet the connectivity requirement.  The 
perimeter boundary on the west and north is approximately 1,500 feet and would 
require a minimum of 2 connections to the perimeter.  While there may be topographic 
or development constraints that justify connectivity, a larger concept street layout for 
surrounding areas has not been prepared to put the decision to not connect into a 
broader context, and at a minimum, connections to developable property to the north 
are advisable (this is related to the East Street improvements discussed below).  
Additionally, if the Planning Commission is to grant an exception to the connection 
requirements, alternatives that provide pedestrian and bike connections can also be 
requested per the subdivision standards (the design standards suggest that any block 
more than 1,000 feet or any disconnected street should consider pedestrian easements 
or connections to potential adjacent areas and amenities at the same frequency as 
would otherwise be required by the street network.)   

 
2. East Street.  The preliminary plat has four lots fronting on east street.  This is a preferred 

pattern for subdivisions according to the 2017 neighborhood design principles (i.e. not 
“backing” subdivisions to streets so that the rear yards appear on city streets and the 
city maintains streets that have no immediate development value.)  However, East 
Street is not in its fully improved state.  While it can support four additional lots in its 
current state, this project should be required to contribute its portion of the ultimate 
East Street improvement (including where and how it ultimately connects to the street 



5 
 

network to the north and west.)  A development agreement should be required to 
determine the appropriate contribution of this project.  Additionally, the streetscape 
design considerations and residential frontage design considerations identified in the 
2017 planning efforts (i.e. how residential lots should front on and access local, 
collector, or arterial neighborhood streets) should be considered within that agreement, 
and look at options for how the four lots interface with the ultimate East Street 
streetscape design.  [Note: these ultimate improvements may be in the future, and will 
require coordination of multiple parties and entities, so the development agreement 
should reconcile how this project should contribute, and how the project can occur in an 
interim state without undermining to potential long-range design solution. 

 
3. Pedestrian Connectivity.  As mentioned above, part of the 2017 comprehensive plan 

supplements dealt with neighborhood character and public realm design to enhance 
pedestrian connectivity.  This includes neighborhood streetscapes, access to 
neighborhood common areas and amenities, and connections to surrounding civic 
assets.  In this case – and particularly if neighborhood street network connections are 
not being made – this presents two principle issues: (a) pedestrian connections to the 
adjacent school complex (for the cul-de-sac, Washington Street, and East Street); and 
(b) potential pedestrian and trail connections on the east side (Tract A common area) 
and/or north side if no street connections are justified.  The 2017 public realm design 
plan supplement included some of these areas to the north and east as potential trail 
connections – this was both to capitalize on the broader opportunities and amenities of 
the regional trail system around Tonganoxie, but also to convert what may otherwise be 
a development constraint for this entire section into a potential development amenity.  
(i.e a street network and block arrangement that makes these areas more of a central 
focal point rather than leftover space internal to and behind development.)  While these 
areas are not within the proposed development, it does indicate why a conceptual 
circulation plan could be important to put the proposed preliminary plat in context, and 
at a minimum potential connections to and through Tract A within the preliminary plat 
should be considered (as well as connections to and across Washinton Street). 

 
b. Lots – the lot arrangement provides building sites meeting the standards of the city 

regulations and proposed zoning. 
   

The R-SF zoning district requires all lots to be a minimum of 65’ wide and 6,000 square feet in 
areas.  All proposed lots meet this standard (those with shorter frontage are on curves where 
the 65’ requirement is measured further back at the front building line due to the configuration 
of the lot frontage.)  The arrangement of these lots are dictated more by the proposed street 
layout discussed in section II.a above, and any issues with that will be addressed by street layout 
considerations.  Additionally, while the lots in this proposed plat comply with the zoning and 
platting standards, as more property in this area continue to develop, a wider range of housing 
types and lot patterns will be desired (see 2017 housing and neighborhood design supplement 
in the plan.) 

 
c. Character of Development – Minimum requirements on the character of development (both 

within the proposed project and in relation to surrounding property) may be included in the 
required project. 

   
With respect to land use and intensity, the proposed is consistent with the character of 
development within the area.  The relationship and transitions to adjacent areas is dictated 
more by the street layout and connectivity requirements identified in section II.a  above. 



6 
 

 
d. Utilities and Easements 
   

The proposed utilities and easements appear acceptable at a planning and conceptual level.  The 
City Engineer has reviewed the preliminary plat (November 15, 2023 report) and recommends 
approval subject to some specific details the stormwater pipe from S. East Terrace to the 
adjacent boundary, the disposition and access to Tract A (see section II.e), and the improvement 
plans for East Street (see section II.a.2.)    Approval of construction plans according to all City 
specifications is required for all improvements, and construction plans for streets, storm sewer 
and sanitary sewer hill need to be submitted in coordination with the final plat.  Based on a 
technical review of these plans, and based on other planning issues associated with the 
preliminary plat, adjustments to easements in the final plat may be advised.   
 

e. Open Spaces and Community Assets – parks, school sites and other civic assets, other than 
streets. 

    
This project is well situated to many community assets and to potential community assets, 
including schools, parks, and trails, and downtown.  Most of these civic assets are off-site, 
elevating the importance of street connections to off-site street networks crucial to accessing 
these amenities.  The plat also includes a proposed Tract A that has the potential for greater 
connections to similar land on adjacent sites.  While these areas are not part of the immediate 
project they have the potential to be amenities for the entire section as identified in the city’s 
long-range plans.  However, there are no connections to this property, no plans to present this 
as a neighborhood amenity, and no concept plans for how this tract could be incorporated into a 
broader system of trails and open spaces.  At a minimum this project should consider the 
following with regard to open spaces and civic assets: 
1. Improved pedestrian connections to the school – including the cul-de-sac streetscape 

design, Washinton Street, and East Street. (see section II.a above) 
2. Alternative connections to the north and west of the property for potential bike and 

pedestrian routes – particularly if the Planning Commission approves an exception to 
the minimum connectivity requirements and waive the requirement to extend streets to 
the perimeter. 

3. Connections to Tract A, and then potential connections from Tract A to Washinton 
Street on the south, and to additional similarly situated land on the north and east of 
Tract A.  At a minimum, a homeowner’s association will need to be created to accept 
ownership, legal responsibility, and demonstrate the ongoing financial and 
administrative capacity to maintain this undeveloped Tract.    

 
f. Suitability of the Land 
 

The land is undeveloped but has been planned low density residential development for several 
years.  In general, the land is suitable for this type of development.    

 
IV.  EFFECT OF DECISION 
  
Preliminary Plat.  The Planning Commission may approve, conditionally approve/modify or deny a 
preliminary plat application.  Any denial or conditional approval/modification must specifically state the 
reasons for the decision and requirements to meet the Commission’s approval.   
 
The approval of the preliminary plat does not constitute final approval or acceptance of the subdivision 
by the City Planning Commission or authorization to proceed on construction of the improvements 



7 
 

within the subdivision but shall constitute approval of the general layout.  Approval of a preliminary plat 
is valid for one year; within which time a final plat shall be submitted.  A final plat that conforms to the 
subdivision standards and is conforms to the general layout of the preliminary plat may be approved.   
Denial of a preliminary plat may be appealed to the City Council 
 
Rezoning:  Approval of a Rezoning will authorize development according to all R-SF development 
standards.  The Planning Commission makes a recommendation to the City Council for a final decision. 
 

V.  RECOMMENDATION 
 
The threshold issue for this application is if the Planning Commission determines that the lack of street 
connections and an exception to the connectivity standards is warranted.  At a minimum, staff feels that 
a connection to the potentially developable site to the north should be considered, and this may be 
related to what the ultimate improvement of East Street will be.  Alternatively, a conceptual circulation 
plan for the entire area could put the proposed cul-de-sac and impacts from lack of connectivity in a 
broader perspective. 
 
Dependent on how the Commission resolves the above issue, and assuming that the Planning 
Commission makes findings to grant the exception or consider acceptable alternatives, staff 
recommends the following: 
 
That the Planning Commission recommend that the City Council approve rezoning or the property from 
R-R to R-SF subject to the following conditions: 
 
1. The approval is subject to a development agreement between the City and the applicant on the 

regarding the ultimate East Street improvements.  This agreement should address 
apportionment of costs, potential timing, and contingencies for the ultimate design solutions. 

2. The rezoning approval is subject to the proposed preliminary plat, and addressing all issues on 
the plat prior to a final plat. 

 
That the Planning Commission approve the final plat subject to the following: 
1. A development agreement, associated with the rezoning, between the City and the applicant on 

the regarding the ultimate East Street improvements.   
2. Alternative connections to adjacent property be considered and fully vetted in the broader 

context of this property section (4th Street, East Street, Washinton Street, and east city limits), 
including: 
a.   Potential of street connections to the north; 
b. Potential of trail connections to the north and east 

3. Improved pedestrian connections to the schools be provided, including the cul-de-sac 
streetscape, along Washinton Street, along East Street, and the intersection of Washington and 
East Street.  (some of this may be associated with and dependent on the development 
agreement indicated in condition 1. Above) 

4. A homeowner’s association shall be formed to accept ownership, legal responsibility, and 
demonstrate the ongoing financial and administrative capacity to maintain this undeveloped 
Tract.   Documents shall be approved by the City Attorney prior to approval of a final plat. 

5. Tract A be considered as a potential amenity to the overall project and surrounding area, 
including potential trail connections to property to the north and east, and a connection to 
Washinton Street to the south (potentially related to better pedestrian connections to the 
school.) 

 
 



8 
 

6. All other elements in the City Engineers report dated November 15, 2023 are incorporated and 
addressed prior to final plat. 

 
 

 
_________________________________ 
Chris Brewster 
Contract City Planner 



 

 


To: 

Cc: 

From: 

Date: 

Re: 

Preliminary Plat  

 

 

 

 



  




Recommended Action:

 

Storm Drainage Report :

 

Recommended Action:

Brian Kingsley, PE 



CITY OF TONGANOXIE 
CHANGE OF ZONE REQUEST AND PROCEDURES 

ZONE CHANGE APPLICATION 

Date Received: 

Fee Paid: __ _ 

Received By: __ 

REQUESTED REZONING FROM: R-R and R-SF To: R-SF 
PRESENT ZONING DISTRICT PR.-=-o-=-po=-=s:-:E-:-D-::::Z-:-0:-::NIN::--· :-:G--=D--=Is=TRI=· -:-c==r 

srrE ADDREss OR PRoPERTY LOCATION Washington and East Streets 

SIZE OF SITE (ACRE/SQUARE FEET)___,_.1--"o~/ ..... ~~:4::J...;9__,_.2~5:!...!. ,: __________ _ 

ASSESSOR'S TAX PARCEL NUMBER Jl)2oqoL/-OO / 00~000 

APPLICANT: Orison, LLC 

MAIUNGADDREss: 1204 State Avenue, Suite A, Tonganoxie, KS 66086 

PHONE NUMBER:  (daytime) _____ ___:(cell)  (fax) 

EMAIL ADDREss:  

LANDOWNER OF RECORD (If different than applicant):_O_r_is_o_n_,_L_l_C ________ _ 
ADDREss: 1204 State Avenue, Suite A, Tonganoxie, Ks 66086 

PHONE NUMBER:  (daytime) (cell)  (fax) 

~ss:  

AGENT or ARCHITECT/ENGINEER /LAND PLANNER: _S_c_h_la__:...g_e_l ----------
BUSINESS ADDRESS:  

PHONE NUMBER :  (daytime)  ( cell)_N_/ A_· ____ (fax) 

EMAIL ADDRESS:    

Required materials needed to file this application: 
o Application and fee 
o A signed affidavit 
o A copy of the current deed for the property and an electronic copy (Microsoft Word) 
o Site plan drawn to scale showing the dimensions of the property 
o The existing streets and utilities serving the area 
o New proposed streets and/or utilities 
o Any improvements proposed, 
o Surrounding property owners list 
o Four ( 4) folded copies of all plans 
o One (I) reduced copy (11 "xl7") of all plans 
o One (1) electronic copy of aU plans (PDF) 









7

5

6

1

R-SF

R-R

SW. CORNER, E. 1/2
SECTION 9-11-21

E. WASHINGTON ST.

EA
ST

 S
TR

EE
T

S. LINE, SE. 1/4, SEC. 9-11-21

W
. L

IN
E,

 E
. 1

/2
, S

E.
 1

/4
, S

EC
. 9

-1
1-

21

UNPLATTED

UNPLATTED

POINT OF BEGINNING

N88°41'16"E  1318.59'
S88°41'16"W  1088.59'

141.30'

PROPOSED R-R
16736.27 SQ FT
0.3842 ACRES

R-R

PROPOSED PLAT OF
 WREN ESTATES

PARCEL ID #
1920904001006000

S0
1°

39
'0

7"
E 

 1
89

.0
0'

S88°41'16"W  88.70'

N
01

°4
7'

40
"W

  1
68

.1
6'

N16°39'56"E
21.91'

N88°41'16"E  82.23'

POINT OF COMMENCING
SE. CORNER, SE. 1/4,

SECTION 9-11-21
2.5" ILLEGIBLE ALUMINUM CAP.

SHEET

D
R

AW
N

 B
Y:

D
AT

E 
PR

EP
AR

ED
:

PR
O

J.
 N

U
M

BE
R

:
Ka

ns
as

 S
ta

te
 C

er
tif

ic
at

es
 o

f A
ut

ho
rit

y
 #

E-
29

6 
 #

LA
-2

9 
 #

LS
-5

4

(9
13

) 4
92

-5
15

8 
   

Fa
x:

 (9
13

) 4
92

-8
40

0
14

92
0 

W
es

t 1
07

th
 S

tre
et

   
Le

ne
xa

, K
an

sa
s 

66
21

5

W
W

W
.S

C
H

LA
G

EL
AS

SO
C

IA
TE

S.
C

O
M

C
H

AN
G

E 
O

F 
ZO

N
E 

R
EQ

U
ES

T 
EX

H
IB

IT
EA

ST
 1

/2
, S

E.
 1

/4
, S

EC
. 9

-1
1-

21

TO
N

G
AN

O
XI

E,
 L

EA
VE

N
W

O
R

TH
 C

O
U

N
TY

, K
AN

SA
S

JW
T

1-
26

-2
02

3

23
-1

68

CHANGE OF
ZONE REQUEST

EXHIBIT

1
0 40' 80'

SCALE: 1" = 40'

N

DESCRIPTION:
A tract of land lying in the East One-Half of the Southeast One-Quarter of section 9, Township 11 South, Range
21 East, in the city of Tonganoxie, Leavenworth County, Kansas being more particularly described as follows:

Commencing at the Southeast corner of the said Southeast One-Quarter; thence along the South line of said
Southeast One-Quarter, South 88 degrees 41 minutes 16 seconds West, a distance of 1088.59 feet to the Point
of Beginning; thence continuing along said South line, South 88 degrees 41 minutes 16 seconds West, a distance
of 88.70 feet; thence North 01 degrees 47 minutes 40 seconds West, a distance of 168.16 feet; thence North 16
degrees 39 minutes 56 seconds East, a distance of 21.91 feet; thence North 88 degrees 41 minutes 16 seconds
East, a distance of 82.23 feet; thence South 01 degrees 39 minutes 07 seconds East, a distance of 189.00 feet to
the Point of Beginning, and containing 0.38 acres, more or less.

SECTION 9-T11-R21
LOCATION MAP
SCALE 1" = 2000'

NW1/4

SW1/4 SE1/4

PROJECT
LOCATION

9

NE1/4

E. WASHINGTON STREET

STATE AVENUE

W
ES

T 
ST

R
EE

T

21
4T

H
 S

TR
EE

T

S.
 P

LE
AS

AN
T S

T

I:\
PR

O
JE

C
TS

\2
02

3\
23

-1
68

\2
.0

 S
ur

ve
y\

0.
0 

M
is

c\
23

-1
68

 Z
on

in
g 

Ex
hi

bi
t.d

w
g,

 1
1x

17
, 1

0/
26

/2
02

3 
10

:4
7:

38
 A

M

AutoCAD SHX Text
N













XXX

13

20

12

7

19

10

18

8
17

16

9

15

5

14

46'

148'

174'

16
2'

42
'

132'

11
6'

105'

46'

111'

16
6'

166'

60
'

54
'

119'

5'

39
8'

134'

34
'

46 '

70
'

127'

70
'

120'

70
'

129'
33

'

137'

26
'

6 4
'

22
'

121'

59
'

26
'

112'

96
'

50
'

139'
30

'

27
'

22
'

148'

65
'

35
'

146'

65
'

63
'

144'

65
'

65
'

19
'

29
'

13
'

52
'

19
'

50
'

181'

70
'

225'

148'

75
'

115'

75
'

108'

85
'

4

6

18
'

11

TRACT "A"

35
'

12
1'

67
'

70
'

70
'

47
'

72
'

25'

25
'

31
'

85
'

83
'

64
'

82
'

81
'

140'

1

2

3

T

SANx
SAN x

SAN x
SAN x

SAN x
SAN x

SAN x

SA
N
x

SA
N
x

SA
N
x

SA
N x

SA
N x

SA
N x

SA
N x

SA
N x

SA
N x

SA
N x

SA
N x

SA
N x

SA
N x

SA
N x

SANx SANx SANx

SA
N x

SA
N x

SA
N x

SA
N x

SA
N x

SA
N x

SA
N
x

SA
N
x

SA
N
x

SA
N
x

SA
N
x

SA
N
x

SA
N
x

SA
N
x

OHPx
OHPx

OHPx
OHPx

OHPx
OHPx

OHPx

OHPx
OHPx

OHPx
OHPx

OHPx

OHPx
OHPx

OHPx

OHPx OHPx OHPx OHPx OHPx OHPx OHPx OHPx OHPx
OHPx

OHPx OHPx OHPx OHPx

STO
x ST

O
x

X X X X X X X X

X X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

Wx Wx Wx Wx Wx Wx Wx Wx Wx Wx Wx Wx Wx Wx Wx

EXISTING SANITARY SEWER

PROPOSED STORM
SEWER (TYP.)

PROPOSED STORM
SEWER (TYP.)

PROPOSED STORM
SEWER (TYP.)

EXIST. SAN.
SEWER

EXIST. BOX CULVERT

EXIST. 24"
CMP STORM PIPE

5' WALK
BY OTHERS

5' WALK
BY OTHERS

S.
 E

AS
T 

TE
RR

AC
E

E. WASHINGTON STREET

EA
ST

 S
TR

EE
T

APPROXIMATE LIMITS OF FEMA
FLOOD PLAIN ZONE AE
PER F.I.R.M. 20103C0302G
DATED JULY 16, 2015

CL 15' D/EPROPOSED STORM
SEWER (TYP.)

SW. COR., SW. 1/4,
SE. 1/4, OF SE. 1/4
SEC. 9-11-21

N88°41'16"E  141.30'
S88°41'16"W  869.66'

33'
EXIST. R

/W

50'
R

/W

60'
R/W

28'
B/B

30'
EXIST. R/W

40'
R/W

EXISTING SANITARY SEWER

POINT OF BEGINNING

N88°41'16"E  265.24'

N
00

°4
5'

30
"W

  1
66

.1
0'

N88°45'20"E  390.53'

S0
1°

44
'0

1"
E 

 2
55

.0
7'

S2
5°

50
'53

"W
  4

54
.3

4'

S88°41'16"W  307.62'

N
01

°4
7'

40
"W

  1
68

.1
6'

N16°39'56"E  21.91'

S88°41'16"W  147.77'

N
01

°3
9'

07
"W

  3
04

.6
7'

S. LINE, SE. 1/4, SEC. 9-11-21

CL 20' U/E
DOC. NO. 2019R02137

10
' U

/E
10

' U
/E

10
' U

/E

10
' U

/E

30
' B

L
30

' B
L

20
' U

/E

20
' U

/E

20
' U

/E

20
' U

/E

20
' U

/E

20' U/E

20' D/E

20
' D

/E

CL 15' D/E

20' U/E

10
' U

/E

OWNER:
PATRICK H & MARGARET

FRANCES LENAHAN

OWNER:
ORISON, LLC

OWNER:
SCOTT & SHANNON

BRUEGGE

OWNER:
MICHAEL R & JANICE K

SEYMOUR

OWNER:
CHRISTOPHER M & KARA M

DAY

OWNER:
ORISON, LLC

OWNER:
GERALD Y COHEN &
JENNIFER L KIRBY

OWNER:
TONGANOXIE

PROPERTY, LLC

86
0

87
0

870

880

88
0

852

85
4

85
6

85
8

86
2864

866

86
8

872

87
2

874

87
4

876

876

878

878

882
882

88
4

88
4

886

88
6

87
2

87
2

87
2

87
4

87
4

87
4

880

874

87
6

87
8

88
2

88
4

88
6

88
8

87
0

86
686
887
287
4

87687
8

85
0

848

85
2

85
4

85
6

858

85
0

860 85
2

85
4

85
6

85
8862 85

0

860

85
2

85
4

85
6

85
8

EXIST.
HOUSE

EXIST.
SHED

EXIST.
HOUSE EXIST.

SHED CL 15' D/E

30' BL
30' BL

30
' B

L

30
' B

L

30
' B

L

30' BL

30
' B

L

30
'

B
L

D/E

D/E EXISTING OVERHEAD POWER

EXISTING WATER MAIN

D/E

848

BASE FLOOD ELEVATION

30
' B

L

30
' B

L

30
' B

L

30
' B

L

30
' B

L

30
' B

L

30' BL

30
' B

L

25
' B

L

25
' B

L

25
' B

L

LOT #

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

R/W

TRACT "A"

AREA (SF)

14020

10358

9518

9490

9544

9405

8955

8746

19040

15204

26695

13750

9798

9116

8623

8510

13297

48688

24364

AREA (AC)

0.32

0.24

0.22

0.22

0.22

0.22

0.21

0.20

0.44

0.35

0.61

0.32

0.22

0.21

0.20

0.20

0.31

1.12

0.56

Point of Commencing
SE. COR., SE. 14
SEC. 9-11-21

0 40' 80'

SCALE: 1" = 40'

N

(9
13

) 4
92

-5
15

8 
   

Fa
x:

 (9
13

) 4
92

-8
40

0
14

92
0 

W
es

t 1
07

th
 S

tre
et

   
Le

ne
xa

, K
an

sa
s 

66
21

5

W
W

W
.S

C
H

LA
G

EL
AS

SO
C

IA
TE

S.
C

O
M

Ka
ns

as
 S

ta
te

 C
er

tif
ic

at
es

 o
f A

ut
ho

rit
y

 #
E-

29
6 

 #
LA

-2
9 

 #
LS

-5
4

SHEET

R
EV

IS
IO

N
 D

AT
E

D
ES

C
R

IP
TI

O
N

D
AT

E 
PR

EP
AR

ED
:

PR
O

J.
 N

U
M

BE
R

:

D
R

AW
N

 B
Y:

C
H

EC
KE

D
 B

Y:

8 97654321

PREPARED BY:

SCHLAGEL & ASSOCIATES, P.A.

23
-1

68

W
R

EN
 E

ST
AT

ES
PR

EL
IM

IN
AR

Y 
PL

AT

EA
ST

 S
T 

& 
E 

W
AS

H
IN

G
TO

N
 S

T 
 T

O
N

G
AN

O
XI

E,
 K

S

PRELIMINARY
PLAT

1

N
C

A

M
AB

10
/2

6/
20

23

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

##
##

LEGEND:
A/E - ACCESS EASEMENT
BC - BACK OF CURB
B/B - BACK TO BACK
BM - BENCHMARK
BL or B.L. - BUILDING LINE
CO - CLEANOUT
TJB - TELEPHONE JUNCTION BOX
C&G - CURB AND GUTTER
D/E - DRAINAGE EASEMENT
E/E - ELECTRICAL EASEMENT
EL - ELEVATION
FL - FLOW LINE
G/E - GAS LINE EASEMENT
HDPE - HIGH-DENSITY POLYETHYLENE
L/E - LANDSCAPE EASEMENT

MSFE - MINIMUM SERVICEABLE FLOOR
ELEVATION

PVC - POLYVINYL CHLORIDE
P/L - PROPERTY LINE
PUB/E - PUBLIC EASEMENT
RCP - REINFORCED CONCRETE PIPE
ROW or R/W - RIGHT-OF-WAY
S/E - SANITARY SEWER EASEMENT
SL - SERVICE LINE
S/W - SIDEWALK
TE - TOP ELEVATION
U/E - UTILITY EASEMENT
WSE - WATER SURFACE ELEVATION
W/E - WATERLINE EASEMENT

HATCH, SOLID, LAYER=C-ROAD-PATT-E, ENTITY (NOT LAYER) TRANSPARENCY=90

ASPHALT PAVEMENT - EXISTING

HATCH, SOLID,, LAYER=C-ROAD-PATT, ENTITY (NOT LAYER) TRANSPARENCY=60

ASPHALT PAVEMENT - PROPOSED

HATCH, AR-CONC, ANNOTATIVE, SCALE=0.05, LAYER=C-ROAD-PATT-E

CONCRETE PAVEMENT - EXISTING

HATCH, SOLID, LAYER=C-ROAD-PATT-E, ENTITY (NOT LAYER) TRANSPARENCY=90

ASPHALT PAVEMENT - EXISTING

HATCH, AR-CONC, ANNOTATIVE, SCALE=0.05, LAYER=C-ROAD-WALK-PATT-E

CONCRETE SIDEWALK - EXISTING

HATCH, AR-CONC, ANNOTATIVE, SCALE=0.05, LAYER=C-ROAD-WALK-PATT

CONCRETE SIDEWALK - PROPOSED

CURB & GUTTER

CURB & GUTTER - EXISTING

TREELINE
EXISTING LOT AND R/W LINES
EXISTING PLAT LINES

P/L PROPERTY LINES
ROW RIGHT-OF-WAY

SANITARY SEWER MAIN
SANITARY SEWER MAIN - EXIST.

STO STORM SEWER
STORM SEWER - EXISTING

CATVx CABLE TV - EXISTING
FOCx FIBER OPTIC CABLE - EXISTING
T x TELEPHONE LINE - EXIST.
Ex ELECTRIC LINE - EXISTING
OHPx OVERHEAD POWER LINE - EXIST.
UGEx UNDERGROUND ELECTRIC - EX.
Gx GAS LINE - EXISTING
Wx WATERLINE - EXISTING

LP
LIGHT - EXISTING

MH
EXISTING MANHOLE

Cleanout

CO CLEANOUT
Existing Sanitary MH

EXISTING SANITARY MANHOLE
MH

PROPOSED SANITARY MANHOLE
AI

EXAI
EXISTING AREA INLET

CI
EXCI

EXISTING CURB INLET
GI

EXCI
EXISTING GRATE INLET

JB
EXJB

EXISTING JUNCTION BOX
D

MH STM
EXISTING STORM MANHOLE

PRELIMINARY PLAT
FOR

WREN ESTATES
IN THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF

SECTION 9-T11S-R21E
IN THE CITY OF TONGANOXIE, LEAVENWORTH COUNTY, KANSAS E. WASHINGTON STREET

STATE AVENUE

NW1/4 NE1/4

SW1/4

SE1/4

W
ES

T 
ST

R
EE

T

SECTION 09-11-21
LOCATION MAP
SCALE 1" = 2000'

PROJECT
LOCATION

EXISTING ZONING: R-R & R-SF
PROPOSED ZONING:  R-SF

AREA REQUIREMENTS:
A. Minimum front yard:

1. Minimum depth of 30 feet on all street rights-of-way.
B. Minimum side yard:

1. 7 Feet (10 Feet Required, Deviation Requested)
C. Minimum rear yard -- Minimum depth of 30 feet. (30' Typ., 25'

Adjacent to Tract A. 30 feet required, Deviation Requested)
D. Minimum lot area -- 6,000 Square Feet.
E. Minimum lot width -- All lots shall have a minimum width at the

setback line of 65 feet.

DESCRIPTION:

A tract of land lying in the East One-Half of the Southeast One-Quarter of section 9,
Township 11 South, Range 21 East, in the city of Tonganoxie, Leavenworth County,
Kansas being more particularly described as follows:

Commencing at the Southeast corner of the said Southeast One-Quarter; thence
along the South line of said Southeast One-Quarter, South 88 degrees 41 minutes 16
seconds West, a distance of 869.67 feet to the Point of Beginning; thence continuing
along said South line, South 88 degrees 41 minutes 16 seconds West, a distance of
307.62 feet; thence North 01 degrees 47 minutes 40 seconds West, a distance of
168.16 feet; thence North 16 degrees 39 minutes 56 seconds East, a distance of
21.91 feet; thence South 88 degrees 41 minutes 16 seconds West, a distance of
147.77 feet to a point on the West line of said East One-Half; thence along said West
line, North 01 degrees 39 minutes 07 seconds West, a distance of 304.67 feet;
thence North 88 degrees 41 minutes 16 seconds East, a distance of 265.24 feet;
thence North 00 degrees 45 minutes 30 seconds West, a distance of 166.10 feet;
thence North 88 degrees 45 minutes 20 seconds East, a distance of 390.53 feet;
thence South 01 degrees 44 minutes 01 seconds East, a distance of 255.07 feet;
thence South 25 degrees 50 minutes 53 seconds West, a distance of 454.34 feet to
the Point of Beginning, and containing 7.3703 acres, more or less.

DECLARATION

TRACT "A" TO BE OWNED BY THE H.O.A. AND LEFT IN A NATURAL
CONDITION IN A DRAINAGE EASEMENT DEDICATED TO THE CITY OF
TONGANOXIE.

OWNER/DEVELOPER:

ORISON, LLC
DAN LYNCH
1204 STATE AVENUE, SUITE A
TONGANOXIE, KS 66086
p (913) 369-3000
f (913) 369-3002
DANLYNCH@LYNCHRESIDENTIAL.COM

ENGINEER:

SCHLAGEL
MARK A.  BREUER, P.E.
14920 W 107TH ST
LENEXA, KS 66215
p (913) 492-5158
COMMENTS@SCHLAGELASSOCIATES.COM

I:\
PR

O
JE

C
TS

\2
02

3\
23

-1
68

\3
.0

 D
es

ig
n\

3.
0 

D
W

G
 P

la
ns

\2
.0

 P
D

P\
23

-1
68

-P
D

P-
G

EN
.d

w
g,

 P
R

EL
IM

IN
AR

Y 
PL

AT
, 1

0/
25

/2
02

3 
3:

44
:0

9 
PM

, 1
:1

PRELIMINARY -
PLANNING

PRUPOSES ONLY



1 
 

 
 

City of Tonganoxie, Kansas 
 

PLANNING STAFF REPORT 

 
Case#: 2023-009P 
 
Date of Report: November 30, 2023 
 
Application:      Site Plan 

Date of Application:  10/30/23 (via email) 
Date of Meeting:  12/7/2023 

 
Action: A site plan requires review and approval by the Planning Commission.  If 

the site meets the standards of the zoning district, and standards and 
criteria of the Site Plan Review Standards, the Planning Commission shall 
approve the site plan.  Approval of a site plan makes the project eligible 
to apply for building permits.   

 
 

Applicant Name:   B & L Ventures, LLC; Wilson Glass 
 

Property Owner Name:  B & L Ventures, LLC 
 

Subject Property 
 Address:  1820 Commerce Drive 
Property Size:   1.70 aces 
Zoning:   I-LT Light Industrial 
Legal Description:   URBAN HESS BSNSS CNTR #2, S03; T11;, R21E, LOT 14  

 

Surrounding Property – Zoning and Use:  
West:  I-LT, Industrial Services 
North: I-LT and I-MD, Industrial Services 
East:  I-LT, vacant 
South:  I-LT, vacant 

 
Staff Recommendation:   

Staff recommends approval. 
 
 
 

 
  



2 
 

 
I. PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 
A. Subject Property.  The property is a 1.56-acre lot on the southwest corner of Commerce Drive 

and Industrial Drive in the Urban Hess Business Park.  The lot is zoned Light Industrial (I-LT).  It 
has a 5,000 square foot flex space building (office, manufacturing, warehouse) that was 
approved through site plan review in March, 2020.  It abuts similarly zoned property on all sides 
and across the streets.    The lot dimensions are 227.6’ wide x 300’ deep.  The lot was previously 
platted and meets the I-LT standards for lot area.   

 
B. Proposal.  The applicant proposing to build an addition that would mirror the existing building 

on the west side in the large open area of the lot, and connect to the existing building with an 
18’ x 40’ breezeway.  The property would include a second driveway and parking area to support 
the building addition, also mirroring the access and circulation for the current building.    The 
Tonganoxie Zoning ordinance also requires that all new buildings and additions to existing 
buildings in industrial zoning districts have a site plan reviewed and approved by the Planning 
Commission.    

 
II. REVIEW CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Site plans are reviewed according to all of the applicable zoning district standards as well as Article 9 of 
the subdivision regulations (Site Plan Review Standards). 
 
The following are the I-LT zoning standards  
 

 I-LT Standards Proposed Project 

Lot Area 1.0 acres 1.56 (existing 

Lot Width 100’ 227.6’ (existing) 

Lot Depth 150’ 300’ (existing) 

Height 3 stories / 45’ 14’ to 14. 3 feet 

Front Setback  35’ 82.27’ (match existing) 

Side Setback  20’ 60’ (east-existing); 61.1’ (west – new addition) 

Rear Setback 25’ 118’ – approximate (match existing) 

Parking 1 space per 1,000 s.f. (5 required) 6 spaces 

Landscape Buffer planting (along residential property) 

• Large shade trees (40’ on center) 

• Large shrub (8’ on center) 

• Not applicable in this case 
Right-of-way Buffer 

• 20’ buffer 

• No specific planting requirements; 
performance standards 

Other areas (storage, mechanical, screening): 

• Performance standards with a 
combination of fence and landscape 

• Not specified – suggest 2 to 3 additional 
frontage / street trees; coordinate with 
perimeter street trees required on prior 
application. 

 
Article 9 of the Subdivision Regulations include the City’s Site Plan Standards and Review Criteria.  They 
apply to any new construction in industrial districts [1.2.1.1].  They specifically include the following 
standards: 
 



3 
 

1. Articulation of Wall and Roof Planes [3.1].   Buildings more than 2,000 square feet are required 
to have a 3-to-1 ration of facade articulation, meaning a building should not be more than 3 
times its height wide, without offsets. The intent of this standard is to break up large expanses 
of walls and to add a three-dimensional quality to structures. 

 
This building is approximately 14’ high.  Three times this is approximately 42’.  The front and rear 
elevations are 50’ and do not require an offset.  The side elevations are approximately 100’.  
Neither elevation provides off-sets, however the side elevation has vertical trim elements 
indicating structural bays approximately every 25’, and the front and rear elevations are only 8’ 
over the proportion that would require off-sets with a building this high.  The intent of this 
standard is to avoid longer and uninterrupted building masses, and improve the relationship of 
buildings to adjacent property and streetscape.  The standard uses the 3:1 proportion as the rule 
to accomplish this.  Based on the low height of the building, the large distance from the setbacks 
from both the street and adjacent property, the context of the site in an industrial area, and the 
fact that the building does simulate similar proportions in other ways, the Planning Commission 
should consider whether this alternative design meets the intent of the standard for this 
particular plan and context.    

 
2. Cladding and Roofing Materials [3.2].   Metal buildings with a quality appearance is acceptable 

in industrial districts.  Other materials may be approved by the Planning Commission on a case-
by-case basis, specifically to account for uses such as car wash, auto maintenance or storage 
buildings where a large portion of the wall may be doors or other types of openings. 

 
The proposed building is a corrugated metal panel building and includes sculptured eave trim on 
the side elevations.  It is proposed with a gray base color with white trim and accents and will 
match the existing building. 

 
3. Visual Elements [3.3].  Retail or office portions of industrial buildings require 30% of the facade 

and street walls to have design elements that allow visual penetration to the interior of 
buildings such as display units, windows and doors.  The intent of this standard for industrial 
buildings is to break up monotonous, impersonal facades. 

 
This building only includes a front entry and windows on the front facade, and two large garage 
bays.  The door and windows are associated with “business entrance” portion of the building 
includes transparency and visual elements that relate to the site.  This elevation also matches 
similar features on the existing building.  The breezeway connection between the building 
includes 3 high windows that break up this approximately 500 square foot wall plane (40’ x 12’ 
+/-).  The Planning Commission should consider whether this alternative design meets the intent 
of the standard for this particular plan and context.    

 
4. Color / Patterns / Textures for Facades and Street Walls [3.4].  Colors, patterns and textures of 

exterior buildings or coatings are to be compatible with existing surroundings.  Extremely bright 
or fluorescent colors should be avoided. 

 
This building is proposed to be gray with white accents, which matches the existing building on 
the site.  There is not a consistent building fabric in this area as it includes a mix of vacant lots 
and industrial buildings.  However, the proposed building is similar in scale, color and materials 
to some of the buildings in the area.   

 



4 
 

5. Axillary Elements [3.5].   Screening of mechanical equipment, trash, or loading areas for 
industrial buildings should be to the rear or otherwise create from the street or residential 
areas. 

 
Mechanical equipment, trash and loading areas are not specifically designated on the site plan.  
There are two “loading doors” indicated on the front elevation and one on the street side (east 
elevation), and each will be accessed from a concrete drive.  These elevations are 82.27’ and 60’ 
(approx.) from the streets.  In association with the landscape recommendations related to the 
streetscape, the loading areas are sufficiently minimized considering the context of this area, the 
scale of the building to the site, and its relation to the overall streetscape.  To the extent any 
mechanical, storage, or loading areas are included on the site, they shall be subject to further 
permit reviews by staff to ensure they meet the fence and/or landscape standards to screen 
these areas from the streetscape and adjacent property. (24-012.C) 

 
6. Landscape  [4.0 and Section 17-011.G, and Section 24].   A landscape plan is required to 

demonstrate buffering and screening, contribute to the overall appearance of the site, 
contribute to the character of the area, and help manage any runoff or similar mitigation of site 
impacts that can be accomplished with vegetation.  Additionally, the I-LT district requires a 20’ 
landscape strip to be maintained along all rights-of-way (17-011.G.).   

 
A detailed landscape plan is not submitted, although the elevation sketch shows frontage 
landscape.  The site plan approval for the existing building in March 2020 recommended 10 to 12 
shade trees on the perimeter of the property, consistent with the way the landscape goals, 
performance criteria, and zoning ordinance landscape requirements had been applied to other 
property in the Urban Hess business park.   This emphasized landscape materials, be included in 
the frontage buffer area, or along the foundation of the building and the parking area, to 
improve the appearance and relation to the streetscape.  The only specific landscape standards 
for the I-LT district (other than the presence of the frontage buffer and screening requirements), 
and the performance criteria of the site plans standards, relate to buffers along property 
adjacent to residential zoning. For the developed portion of this plan, and in relation the the 
additional drive and parking area, staff recommends 2 to 3 additional shade trees in this 
frontage’s areas.  The species, location, and coordination / confirmation with the 
recommendations of the prior approved site plan should occur through the permitting process.  

 
7. Parking [17-016].   The I-MD district requires 1 space for every 1,000 square feet of buildings 

and the parking shall be setback 10’ from the property lines.  Parking slots of more than 6 spaces 
require painted lines or curbs (20-101.F.).  All parking shall be surface with a bituminous or 
concrete pavement meeting the standards and specifications of the City.  Alternative materials 
may be approved for low use parking areas such as fire safety lanes or overflow parking.  [20-
010.H] 

 
The proposed building requires 5 parking spaces, and due to the small nature of the parking 
requirement, the area does not necessarily need to be striped.  A paved parking area is 
designated in front of the building, meets all dimension and location standards, and located 
approximately 10’ (+/-) from the front lot line.  This does not meet the required 20’ landscape 
buffer; however, elsewhere in the standards parking is permitted within 10’ of the property line.  
[However, see landscape comments related to the 20’ right-of-way buffer.]   

 
8. Stormwater [5.0].   Section 5.0 includes a variety of stormwater standards and performance 

criteria to be administered by the City Engineer.  It includes provisions for engineering studies, 



5 
 

stormwater management plans,  or waivers of requirements for projects under certain 
thresholds.. 

 
The City Engineer reviewed this project and determined that detention for this area has been 
accounted for by a previous study drainage study for Urban Hess Business Center Phase 2, and 
has been constructed.  No action is necessary in relation to the proposed site plan.    See  City 
Engineer memo dated February 20, 2020 for the original plan and the memo dated November 
30, 2023 for this plan . 

 
9. Exceptions [1.7].   Where site plans do not meet any of the standards, the Planning Commission 

may grant exceptions to the standards in the following situations:  the standard would create a 
hardship beyond the control of the applicant; OR the exception is a minor modification where 
the intent and purpose of the standard is fulfilled. 

 
Based on the information submitted, the application does not meet, or it is not clear that it 
meets, the following standards: 

• The front and site elevation would require articulation or off-sets, since it is greater than a 
3:1 ratio.  The intent of this standard is to break up larger wall planes.  However this wall 
plane is not very tall (14’), is set back substantially from the street and side properties, and 
has other elements that simulate the 3:1 ratio.   

• Portions of the building elevations lack visual elements that create transparency on the 
facade and street wall (30%).  The intent of this standard for industrial buildings is to break 
up monotonous, impersonal facades.  However, this building does not include any 
substantially evident retail or office components and does have human-scale elements 
associated with the business entrance.  It is setback substantially from the street on all 
sides.   

 
III. EFFECT OF DECISION 
 

Approval of the site plan authorizes the applicant to proceed to building permits.  Prior to issuance of these 
permits the applicant must construction documents demonstrate compliance with all standards of the City, 
demonstrate compliance with the approved site plan, and compliance with any conditions of the site plan 
approval.  If the site plan is not approved by the Planning Commission, the applicant may appeal this 
decision to the City Council. 

 

IV. Staff Recommendation 

The Planning Commission may approve the site plan.  However, any approval shall be based on the 
following: 

1. A determination that the articulation of the walls is not required due to the scale of this 
building and the nature of the front  and side elevations to adjacent property not being 
important to the intent of the articulation standard.   

2. A determination that visual elements on the street wall are not required due to either 
(a) the fact that this building is an industrial building that does not include any office or 
retail components; and/or (b) the building is set back far enough from the street that 
visual elements are not crucial to the buildings.   

3. The applicant shall confirm that all storage, mechanical equipment or other auxiliary 
elements shall be located behind the fenced area, or otherwise screened and not visible 
from the street.  Specifications for the fence that meet the City ordinance shall be 



6 
 

turned in at the time of building permits.  Any other visible features shall require 
landscape screening. 

4. 2 to 3 additional shade trees be planted in the lot frontage area related to the building 
addition.  The species should be from the city-approved list, and the location and type of 
tree should be confirmed prior to permitted, and coordinated with / confirmed in 
association with the landscape requirements of the March 2020 site plan approval. 

 
If the Planning Commission determines that this application does not meet any of the standards, 
or that these recommended conditions to the standards or exceptions do not meet the intent 
and requirements, it may deny the application, stating the specific reasons for denial. 

 
 

 
_________________________________ 
Chris Brewster, Contract City Planner 
Multistudio 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Site 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 


To: 

Cc: 

From: 

Date: 

Re: 

Site Plan Review: 

Recommended Action:

Brian Kingsley, PE 



LOT 14

URBAN HESS

BUSINESS CENTER

NO. 2

68,283 S.F.

1.567 AC.

LOT 19

URBAN HESS

BUSINESS CENTER

NO. 2

LOT 3, BLOCK 1

URBAN HESS

BUSINESS CENTER

NO. 3

LOT 4, BLOCK 1

URBAN HESS

BUSINESS CENTER

NO. 3

COMMERCE DRIVE

I
N

D
U

S
T

R
I
A

L
 
D

R
I
V

E

N89°50'11"E

227.61'

S
0
0
°
0
9
'
4
9
"
E

3
0
0
.
0
0
'

S
0
0
°
0
9
'
4
9
"
E

3
0
0
.
0
0
'

N89°50'11"E

227.61'

LOT 10, BLOCK 2

HIGHLAND RIDGE

BUSINESS CENTER

OHPx OHPx OHPx OHPx OHPx OHPx OHPx OHPx OHPx

OHPx

OH
P x

OH
P x

OH
P x

OH
P x

OH
P x

OH
P x

OH
P x

OH
P x

OH
P x

OH
P x

OH
P x

OH
P x

OH
P x

OH
P x

OH
P x

OH
P x

W
x

W
x

W
x

W
x

W
x

W
x

W
x

W
x

W
x

W
x

W
x

W
x

W
x

W
x

W
x

W
x

W
x

W
x

W
x

WxWxWxWxWxWxWxWxWxWxWx

STO
x

STO
x

ST
O

x
ST

O
x

ST
O

x
ST

O
x

ST
O

x
ST

O
xSTO x

STO x

SAN x SAN x SAN x SAN x SAN x SAN x SAN x

SAN
x

SAN
x

SAN
x

SAN x SAN x SAN x

SANxSAN

904.5

904.34 (TW)

903.84 (TP)

903.54 (TP)

903.41 (TP)

903.71 (TP)

1
0
0
.
0
0

50.00

9.00

(TYP.)

2
0
.
0
0

(
T

Y
P

.
)

6.00

R

2

5

.

0

0

R

2

5

.

0

0

28.00

2
5
.
0
0

8
2
.
2
7

5000 S.F.

STEEL

BUILDING

W W

E

E

E

E

9
0
4

9

0

6

9

0

4

9

0

6

9

0

6

9

0

2

9

0

2

EX. SANITARY MH

FL IN (E.) = 895.83

FL OUT (W.) =895.63

EX. 8" PVC SEWER @ 0.40%

EX. STORM SEWER INLET

2
1
"
 
C

M
P

1

8

"

 

C

M

P

EX. 8" PVC SEWER @ 0.40%

4" PVC (SDR 35) SEWER

SERVICE LINE (2.0%

MIN. SLOPE)

EX. 8" WATER MAIN

WATER METER AND TAP PER

CITY REQUIREMENTS

1" HDPE WATER SERVICE (CTS)(DR11)

42" MIN. COVER

UNDERGROUND ELEC. SERVICE

(PER SERVICE REQUIREMENTS)

5" PCC PAVEMENT ON 4" ROCK BASE (CA-5)

CONCRETE COMMERCIAL DRIVE

ENTRANCE PER CITY DETAIL

LOT BOUNDARY

50' BUILDING LINE

20' U/E AND D/E

20' U/E AND D/E

5
0
'
 
B

U
I
L
D

I
N

G
 
L
I
N

E

2
0
'
 
U

/
E

 
A

N
D

 
D

/
E

5" PCC PAVEMENT ON 4"

ROCK BASE (CA-5)

CONCRETE COMMERCIAL DRIVE

ENTRANCE PER CITY DETAIL

3
1
.
0
0
'
 
B

/
B

6
0
.
0
0
'
 
R

/
W

31.00' B/B

60.00'

R/W

1
2
.
1
7

R

2

0

.

0

0

R

2

0

.

0

0

0 20' 40'

SCALE: 1" = 20'

N

(
9
1
3
)
 
4
9
2
-
5
1
5
8
 
 
 
 
F

a
x
:
 
(
9
1
3
)
 
4
9
2
-
8
4
0
0

1
4
9
2
0
 
W

e
s
t
 
1
0
7
t
h
 
S

t
r
e
e
t
 
 
 
L
e
n
e
x
a
,
 
K

a
n
s
a
s
 
6
6
2
1
5

W
W

W
.
S

C
H

L
A

G
E

L
A

S
S

O
C

I
A

T
E

S
.
C

O
M

SHEET

R
E

V
I
S

I
O

N
 
D

A
T

E
D

E
S

C
R

I
P

T
I
O

N

D
A

T
E

 
P

R
E

P
A

R
E

D
:

P
R

O
J
.
 
N

U
M

B
E

R
:

D
R

A
W

N
 
B

Y
:

C
H

E
C

K
E

D
 
B

Y
:

8 97654321

PREPARED BY:

SCHLAGEL & ASSOCIATES, P.A.

#
#

#
#

W
I
L

S
O

N
 
G

L
A

S
S

L
O

T
 
1

4
,
 
U

R
B

A
N

 
H

E
S

S

B
U

S
I
N

E
S

S
 
C

E
N

T
E

R
 
N

O
.
 
2

T
O

N
G

A
N

O
X

I
E

,
 
K

A
N

S
A

S

SITE PLAN

1

M
A

B

M
A

B

0
2

/
2

4
/
2

0
2

0

#
#

#
#

#
#

#
#

#
#

#
#

#
#

#
#

#
#

#
#

#
#

#
#

#
#

#
#

#
#

#
#

#
#

#
#

#
#

#
#

#
#

#
#

#
#

#
#

#
#

#
#

#
#

#
#

#
#

#
#

#
#

#
#

#
#

#
#

#
#

#
#

SITE INFORMATION :

CURRENT ZONING:  INDSUTRIAL

PROPOSED ZONING:  INSUSTRIAL

CURRENT USE:   Vacant - undeveloped

PROPOSED USE: INDSUTRIAL

SITE AREA - LOT 14  1.57 AC.

PROPOSED BUILDING AREA           5000 S.F.

PARKING PROVIDED: 6 SPACES (INCLUDING 1 A.D.A.)

GENERAL NOTES:

1. Topography and adjacent plat and improvements from LEAVENWORTH COUNTY G.I.S..

2. Existing utilities have been shown to the greatest extent possible based upon field locates by utility companies

and information provided to the engineer.

3. Adjacent parcel information is based upon adjacent recorded plats. This site plan does not depict a Boundary

Survey.

4. All parking lot lighting shall comply with the city codes and ordinances.

5. All new on-site wiring and cable shall be placed underground per the city codes and ordinances.

6. All above ground electrical and/or telephone cabinets shall be placed within the interior side or rear building

setback yards unless the planning official approves the placement of the cabinets in the front or corner yard

as outlined in the city code.

7. All wall and monument signs will require a sign permit through the codes division.

8. All parking spaces shall meet the requirements in the UDO

9. All improvements must meet the City of Tonganoxie design criteria, standards and codes.

10. Stormwater Detention is provided in the regional detention basis, per the "REVISED DRAINAGE STUDY FOR

URBAN HESS BUSINESS CENTER PHASE 2" prepared by Gary Ditty of Landplan Engineering, P.A., dated

September 2002.

DESCRIPTION:

LOT 14 URBAN HESS BUSINESS CENTER NO. 2, A SUBDIVISION OF LAND IN THE CITY OF

TONGANOXIE, LEAVENWORTH COUNTY, KANSAS

LOCATION MAP

(NOT TO SCALE)

PROJECT LOCATION

RIGHT-OF-WAY-ROW or R/W

SANITARY SEWER EASEMENT-S/E

SIDEWALK-S/W

POWER POLE

Power Pole

EXISTING SANITARY MANHOLE

Existing Sanitary MH

OHPx OVERHEAD POWER LINE - EXIST.

SAN x SANITARY SEWER MAIN - EXIST.

STO x STORM SEWER - EXISTING

UTILITY EASEMENT-U/E

Wx WATERLINE - EXISTING

FLOW LINE-FL

DRAINAGE EASEMENT-D/E

CURB & GUTTER

CONCRETE  - PROPOSED

HATCH, AR-CONC, ANNOTATIVE, SCALE=0.05, LAYER=C-ROAD-WALK-PATT

LEGEND :

DRAINAGE ARROW

2.5" CALIPER SHADE TREE

3/4"

76'-0"

5000 S.F.

STEEL

BUILDING

40'-0"

OHPx OHPx OHPx

SAN x SAN x SAN x

903.54 (TP)

903.41 (TP)

903.71 (TP)

9.00

(TYP.)

2
0
.
0
0

(
T

Y
P

.
)

6.00

R

2

5

.

0

0

R

2

5

.

0

0

28.00

2
5
.
0
0

8
2
.
2
7

9

0

2

 (CA-5)

ENTRANCE PER CITY DETAIL

N89°50'11"

227.61'

OHPx OHPx OHPx

SAN x SAN x

9

0

2

OHPx OHPx OHPx

SAN x SAN x SAN x

R

2

5

.

0

0

R

2

5

.

0

0

28.00

ENTRANCE PER CITY DETAIL

18
'-0

"

daylight
storm drains

tie storm drain
to downspout. typ.

area inlet

2 trees

landscape
rock

new 
water
line

new sanitary
sewer line





 
Office of the City Manager 

AGENDA STATEMENT 
  
DATE:  December 7, 2023 
TO:  Honorable Chair Monica Gee and Members of the City Planning Commission 
FROM:   Lindsay Huntington   
SUBJECT:  Planning Commission Appointment Recruitment Update – Consider Applications and 

Recommendation 
 
DISCUSSION: 
Angela Schultz, who held a City resident position on the Planning Commission, resigned from the Planning 
Commission and her last meeting was in October 2023.  Members of the Planning Commission are appointed 
by the Mayor with the approval of the Governing Body and serve terms of 3 years. The remainder of term for this 
vacant City position will run from the date of appointment to May 31, 2024.  
 
The City of Tonganoxie posted the Planning Commission Vacancy on the City website on November 7, 2023.  
To date, three applications were received and a copy of each application is enclosed for review. The Planning 
Commission will have an opportunity to interview any applicants who are able to attend the December 7, 2023 
Planning Commission meeting and can forward a recommendation for appointment to the vacant position to the 
Governing Body for their consideration.  
 
 
 
Planning Commission Current Term Tracker  

 
 
BUDGET IMPACT: 
None. 
 
ACTION NEEDED: 
OPTIONAL – Consider making a recommendation to the Governing Body for appointment to fill the vacant 
position on the Planning Commission.  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Applications (3) 



From: Tonganoxie, KS via Tonganoxie, KS
To: Dan Porter
Subject: Form submission from: City of Tonganoxie Boards and Advisory Committees Volunteer Application
Date: Friday, November 10, 2023 10:20:33 AM

Submitted on Friday, November 10, 2023 - 10:20am
Submitted by anonymous user: 2600:387:15:2712::9
Submitted values are:

Name (First and Last): David Allen Coffman
Upload File(s) - Letter of Interest and Resume:
Street Address: 529 E 6TH ST
City: TONGANOXIE
State: Kansas
Zip: 66086
Email: coffmandavid@msn.com
Phone Number: 9,139,150,453
Are you a registered voter? Yes
Do you live within the city limits of Tonganoxie? : Yes
Where do you work? Please include your job title and a brief description of your job duties 
and responsibilities.:
Colonial Presbyterian
Facilities manager
What Board/Committee would you like to serve on? : Planning Commission
Why do you wish to serve on this board? : Area I'm interested in and believe i can be an asset 
to.
What other Tonganoxie boards and committees have you served on? : None
Is this an application for a reappointment to a board you currently serve on? : No
Describe any work or volunteer experience that is related to the function of this board or 
committee. : Real estate agent twice. License has lapsed. Construction company
owner/operator.
Select your highest education completed. : Associate Degree
Other information or comments:

mailto:cmsmailer@civicplus.com
mailto:dporter@tonganoxie.org
mailto:coffmandavid@msn.com


From: Tonganoxie, KS via Tonganoxie, KS
To: Dan Porter
Subject: Form submission from: City of Tonganoxie Boards and Advisory Committees Volunteer Application
Date: Thursday, November 9, 2023 1:09:16 PM

Submitted on Thursday, November 9, 2023 - 1:09pm
Submitted by anonymous user: 12.91.140.26
Submitted values are:

Name (First and Last): Brianna Irvin
Upload File(s) - Letter of Interest and Resume:

Street Address: 146 S Whilshire dr
City: Tonganoxie
State: Kansas
Zip: 66086
Email: brianna.irvin95@gmail.com
Phone Number: 6,207,949,608
Are you a registered voter? Yes
Do you live within the city limits of Tonganoxie? : Yes
Where do you work? Please include your job title and a brief description of your job duties 
and responsibilities.: I work at Peruvian Connection as the Inventory Management Data 
Specialist. I manage product information on our ERP system, manage databases, compile 
reports, research issues and solutions, and assist other departments as needed.
What Board/Committee would you like to serve on? : Planning Commission
Why do you wish to serve on this board? : I want to give back to my community and help the 
city improve as well as get into the urban planning field.
What other Tonganoxie boards and committees have you served on? : None
Is this an application for a reappointment to a board you currently serve on? : No
Describe any work or volunteer experience that is related to the function of this board or 
committee. : I volunteer as a board member and the Treasurer for the Alliance Against Family 
Violence, a domestic violence shelter that services Leavenworth county. I am also pursuing a 
degree in public administration.
Select your highest education completed. : Some College
Other information or comments:

mailto:cmsmailer@civicplus.com
mailto:dporter@tonganoxie.org
mailto:brianna.irvin95@gmail.com


 

November 9, 2023 

RE: Tonganoxie City Planning Commission 

Letter of Interest 

 

Dear Commissioners, 

I would like to express my interest in serving on the City of Tonganoxie Planning Commission. I have 

lived and worked in Tonganoxie for almost two years now. My family and I plan to purchase a home 

here within the next three years and I have two children who attend Tonganoxie Elementary School.  

As a member of the commission, I would bring several key qualities: 

• Commitment to public service: I am a senior in college, set to graduate in May2024 with a 

bachelor’s degree in public administration. Afterwards I plan to pursue a masters in American 

studies and urban planning. My goal is to serve the public and give back. 

• A different generations perspective: I am 28 years old and have two children. With me on the 

board I can provide the perspective of people of my generation while looking to do what is best 

for the city.  

• A desire to improve Tonganoxie: I see the potential Tonganoxie has not only for growth but 

also improvements. As someone who lives and works here, I am personally invested in the city’s 

success.  

• A thorough and logical mind: I do my best to be thorough in all things I do. I am also highly 

attentive and logical. These qualities would be an asset to the commission and the city.  

Thank you for taking the time to review my interest and qualifications. I would appreciate your 

consideration as you look to fill the open Planning Commission vacancy. 

Sincerely, 

Brianna Irvin 

Email: Brianna.irvin95@gmail.com 

Cell: (620)794-9608 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

mailto:Brianna.irvin95@gmail.com


 

 

Brianna Irvin 
Inventory Management Data Specialist/Student 

 

 

  

Contact 

Tonganoxie, Kansas 

(620) 794 - 9608 

Briann.irvin95@gmail.com 

 

Objective 

To find a promising position with the purpose of serving the community that 
will utilize my skill set and qualifications while allowing me to opportunity to 
continue gaining experience.  

Education 

Fort Hays State University 

  Projected Graduation: May 
2024 

         B.S. in Public 
Administration 

 

 

Associations 
Current board member and 

treasurer for Alliance 
Against Family Violence 

 

Experience 

January 2022 - Present 

Inventory Management Data Specialist  

Peruvian Connection 

General Duties: Assisting supervisor and department with major projects 

including changeover of systems, collection and maintenance of data, and 

facilitating training, meetings, and correspondence. Maintains training 

documents, communication with internal and external contacts, and point of 

contact for many issues related to system and department. Manages all 

product information and incoming/outgoing purchase orders and transfers.  

 
December 2018 – January 2022 

Inventory Control Specialist 

Standard Motor Products 

General duties: reconciling inventory discrepancies/variances, using the JDE 

system, and addition to verifying/finding inventory. Managing purchase orders 

for supplies within budget, initiating orders to be filled, and managing 

database of inventory tracking.  

 

Key Skills 

• Ability to work independently. 

• Efficient problem solving. 

• Analytical 

• Advanced in Microsoft Applications 

• Leadership 

• Organization 

• Communication 

 



From: Tonganoxie, KS via Tonganoxie, KS
To: Dan Porter
Subject: Form submission from: City of Tonganoxie Boards and Advisory Committees Volunteer Application
Date: Wednesday, November 29, 2023 7:12:18 PM

Submitted on Wednesday, November 29, 2023 - 7:12pm
Submitted by anonymous user: 207.192.213.60
Submitted values are:

Name (First and Last): Susan Freemyer
Upload File(s) - Letter of Interest and Resume:
Street Address: 206 W. 2nd Street
City: Tonganoxie
State: Kansas
Zip: 66086
Email: susanfreemyer22@gmail.com
Phone Number: 9,139,083,444
Are you a registered voter? Yes
Do you live within the city limits of Tonganoxie? : Yes
Where do you work? Please include your job title and a brief description of your job duties 
and responsibilities.: ReeceNichols Premier Realty. Licensed Real Estate Professional in the 
states of Kansas and Missouri. Assisting both Buyers and Sellers for the purchase or sale of 
Commercial, Land and Residential properties. Continuing Education include certifications for 
Effective Negotiations, Contract Law, Code of Ethics, and New Home Construction just to 
name a few that I received in 2022 & 2023. I can navigate through multiple County GIS 
systems and work with Heartland Matrix System.
What Board/Committee would you like to serve on? : Planning Commission
Why do you wish to serve on this board? : I've volunteered many times in the community and 
with the United States Navy. It's been a dream of mine for a while to sit on the planning & 
zoning commission. I was on the committee that helped find the Police Department their 
current building.
What other Tonganoxie boards and committees have you served on? : T3, Chamber of 
Commerce, New Police Station
Is this an application for a reappointment to a board you currently serve on? : No
Describe any work or volunteer experience that is related to the function of this board or 
committee. : New Police Department Committee, Tonganoxie Chamber of Commerce and the 
planning of Spooktacular, Mayors Christmas Tree Lighting, and other events. 2017 Graduate 
of Southern Leavenworth County Leadership Class.
Select your highest education completed. : Associate Degree
Other information or comments: I would be volunteering on this committee as a citizen of the 
community and not on behalf of my business or ReeceNichols Premier.

mailto:cmsmailer@civicplus.com
mailto:dporter@tonganoxie.org
mailto:susanfreemyer22@gmail.com


 


	CALL TO ORDER
	ADP7D40.tmp
	Agenda

	ADP178E.tmp
	Agenda

	ADPDAFD.tmp
	Agenda


	Text1: 


